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BRENDAN R. CUMMINGS (CA Bar # 193952)
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Center For Biological Diversity
P.O. Box 493
54870 Pine Crest Ave.
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Telephone: (909) 659-6053
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BRENT R. PLATER (CA Bar #209555)
Center for Biological Diversity
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Berkeley, CA 94704
Phone: (510) 841-0812
Fax: (510) 841-0187

Attorneys for Plaintiff

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY,

Plaintiff,

v.

NATIONAL SCIENCE FOUNDATION,

Defendant.
____________________________________

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No: 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF

I.  INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief in which the Plaintiff Center for

Biological Diversity (“the Center”) challenges the decisions of Defendant National Science Foundation (“NSF”)

to authorize, fund, and conduct underwater acoustic research in the Gulf of California that has been linked to the

death of whales without performing any environmental analysis under the National Environmental Policy Act

(“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., or obtaining necessary permits and authorizations under the Marine Mammal

Protection Act (“MMPA”), 16 U.S.C. § § 1361 et seq. 

2. The challenged NSF project uses an airgun array to fire extremely high energy acoustic bursts into

the ocean to generate geophysical data about the Gulf of California.   The resulting sound from the airguns is as high
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as 263 decibels at the source.  This is several orders of magnitude greater than the sound intensities known to injure

or kill marine mammals.

3. The threat this research poses to marine mammals is not just theoretical.  On September 25, 2002,

several marine mammal scientists vacationing in the Gulf of California discovered two dead Cuvier’s beaked whales

(Ziphius cavirostris) on the shores of  Isla San Jose.  This species of whale is apparently the most susceptible to

injury and death from high energy acoustics; several recent strandings of this species have been linked to high energy

anthropogenic noises, usually associated with naval operations. The Isla San Jose stranding occurred only a short

distance from where the NSF owned and operated vessel, the R/V Maurice Ewing, was conducting its airgun

research. 

4. Despite the fact that the research vessel involved is owned by a federal agency, that the specific

research project ongoing in the Gulf is funded by a federal agency, and that the research is largely being carried out

by U.S. citizens, neither the specific research project nor the general operations of the research vessel have been

subjected to any U.S. environmental review.  Simply because the current research is occurring outside the U.S.,

the NSF asserts that U.S. environmental laws do not apply to it.  That, however, is not the state of the law.  NEPA

is a statute tied to agency decisionmaking.  In this case, the decisions to fund the research project and deploy the

research vessel were made in the United States.  NEPA is clearly applicable.  Moreover, the MMPA explicitly

applies to actions that take place in the high seas or that originate from U.S. ports.  Both circumstances are met

here.  That the NSF is operating unlawfully cannot be subject to reasonable dispute.  Through this action, the

Center seeks to enjoin this dangerous and unlawful research project until and unless the NSF carries out the

appropriate environmental review, receives the necessary permits, and otherwise ensures that no marine mammals

are unnecessarily harmed.

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 (federal question),

2201(declaratory judgment), and 2201 (injunctive relief), and 5 U.S.C. § 706 (APA).  An actual controversy exists

between the parties within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 2201 because Plaintiff asserts that Defendant is violating

federal law.  Plaintiff has notified Defendant of these violations, but Defendant has not corrected them.

6. Venue is properly vested in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e), as Plaintiff resides in this

judicial district and no real property is involved in the action. 
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7. Pursuant to Civil Local Rule 3-2(c), the appropriate intradistrict assignment of this case is to either

the San Francisco Division or the Oakland Division.

III.  PARTIES

8. Plaintiff Center for Biological Diversity (“the Center”) is a non-profit corporation dedicated to the

preservation, protection, and restoration of biodiversity, native species, ecosystems, and public lands.  The Center

has over 7,000 members and maintains offices in Berkeley, Idyllwild and San Diego, California, as well as Phoenix

and Tucson, Arizona, Silver City, New Mexico, Bozeman, Montana, and Sitka, Alaska.  The Center’s members

and staff regularly use the  waters of the Gulf of California for observation, research, aesthetic enjoyment, and other

recreational, scientific, and educational activities.  The Center’s members and staff have researched, studied,

observed and sought protection for many marine mammal species that inhabit the waters of the Gulf of California.

The Center’s members and staff have researched, studied, visited and observed, and photographed marine

mammals on the shores or in the waters of the Gulf of California.  The Center’s members and staff intend to

continue to study, visit and observe, or attempt to study,  visit and observe, these species in the future.  The

Center’s members and staff derive scientific, recreational, conservation, and aesthetic benefits from the existence

of marine mammals in the wild.  The Center brings this action on behalf of itself and its adversely affected members

and staff.

9. The Center’s  scientific, recreational, conservation, and aesthetic interests in marine mammals in

general, and the marine mammals of the Gulf of California in particular, are harmed by the failure of the NSF to

adequately protect these species from harmful effects of acoustic research.  Specifically, the NSF’s failure to

conduct any environmental review or receive any required permits before authorizing, funding, and conducting

acoustic research on the NSF-owned vessel  the R/V Maurice Ewing has been linked to the deaths of at least two

beaked whales, and is likely to cause continued mortality, serious injury, and harassment of marine mammals.  The

death and injury of marine mammals impairs the Center and its members’  abilities to exercise their scientific,

recreational, conservation, and aesthetic interests in these species.  The NSF’s failure to perform an environmental

analysis of the research project as required by NEPA and secure a small take permit or harassment authorization

as required under the MMPA has resulted in unanalyzed, unmitigated, and unabated harm to marine mammals, and

to the Center’s interests in them.  Only if the NSF complies with the procedural and substantive requirements of

the MMPA and NEPA will the harm to the Center’s interests be redressed.  Therefore, the Center’s members and
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staff have been, are being, and unless the relief requested is granted, will continue to be adversely affected and

injured by the NSF’s failure to comply with the MMPA and NEPA.     

10. Due to the NSF’s failure to comply with the MMPA and NEPA, the Center’s members and staff

have also suffered procedural and informational harms connected to their substantive conservation, recreational,

scientific, and aesthetic interests.  The Center’s  members and staff rely on the NSF to comply with the

requirements of the MMPA and NEPA and to properly implement the statutes so as to protect marine mammals

from the adverse impacts of acoustic research activities.  The Center’s members and staff also rely on the NSF to

comply with the requirements of the MMPA and NEPA that allow for and require public participation in agency

decisionmaking under these statutes.  Without the mandated communication with the public, the Center and other

members of the public are denied essential information regarding the management of marine resources and denied

the opportunity to provide the agency with relevant information concerning the affected environment, reasonable

alternatives, and mitigation suggestions.  These informational and procedural harms can only be remedied if the NSF

is forced to comply with the requirements of the MMPA and NEPA.  The Center has no adequate remedy at law.

11. Defendant National Science Foundation is an independent agency of the U.S. government

established by the National Science Foundation Act of 1950, 42 U.S.C. 1861 et seq.  The NSF initiates and

supports scientific and engineering activities and research programs.  42 U.S.C. § 1862.  The NSF has a legal

responsibility to ensure  that its actions comply with the APA, MMPA, and NEPA.   See 5 U.S.C. § 551(1)

(“agency” means “each authority of the Government of the United States” with limited exceptions such as the courts

of the U.S.); 16 U.S.C. § 1362 (defining “person” covered by the Act as including “any officer, employee, agent,

department, or instrumentality of the Federal Government”) 40 C.F.R. § 1508.12 (federal agency defined as “all

agencies of the Federal Government. It does not mean the Congress, the Judiciary, or the President”);  45 C.F.R.

§ 640.1 et seq. (NSF’s NEPA regulations).  Specifically, the NSF is required to comply with NEPA and the

MMPA when it funds specific research projects and when it utilizes or allows to be utilized a research vessel it

owns, such as the R/V Maurice Ewing.

  IV.  LEGAL BACKGROUND

A.  The Marine Mammal Protection Act (“MMPA”)

12. The MMPA was passed in 1972 in response to widespread concern that large numbers of marine

mammals, particularly dolphins, were being killed in interactions with commercial fisheries.  Congress found that
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“certain species and population stocks of marine mammals are, or may be, in danger of extinction or depletion as

a result of man's activities.” 16 U.S. C. § 1631(1).  The overriding intent of the MMPA is that “such species and

population stocks should not be permitted to diminish beyond the point at which they cease to be a significant

functioning element in the ecosystem of which they are a part, and, consistent with this major objective, they should

not be permitted to diminish below their optimum sustainable population.”  16 U.S. C. § 1631(2). 

13. The primary mechanism by which the MMPA protects marine mammals is through the

implementation of a “moratorium on the taking” of marine mammals.  16 U.S.C. § 1371(a).  Numerous exemptions

to the moratorium are included in the MMPA, including a regime to regulate and authorize limited incidental taking

in conjunction with scientific research.  16 U.S.C. § 1371(a)(1).

14. Under the MMPA, the term “take” is broadly defined to mean “to harass, hunt, capture, or kill, or

attempt to  harass, hunt, capture, or kill any marine mammal.”  Id. §1362(13).  “Harass” is further defined to include

acts of “torment” or “annoyance” that have the “potential” to injure a marine mammal or marine mammal stock in

the wild or have the potential to “disturb” them “by causing disruption of behavioral patterns, including, but not

limited to, migration, breathing, nursing, breeding, feeding, or sheltering.”  Id. § 1362(18).

15. Just as the statute’s definition of “take” is expansive, its jurisdictional reach is likewise very broad.

The MMPA explicitly prohibits any person or vessel subject to the jurisdiction of the U.S. to take any marine

mammal on the high seas.  16 U.S.C. § 1372 (a)(1).  Furthermore, the Act prohibits any person or vessel to take

any marine mammal in waters or on lands subject to U.S. jurisdiction.  Id. at § 1372(a)(2)(A).  Finally, the MMPA

prohibits any person to use “any port, harbor, or other place” under U.S. jurisdiction to take marine mammals.  The

MMPA’s legislative history explains that it is prohibited to use any port, harbor, or other place under U.S.

jurisdiction “in any way connected with a prohibited act unless a permit has been obtained.”  NMFS regulations

reiterate that it is unlawful for any person “to use any port, harbor or other place under the jurisdiction of the United

States for any purpose in any way connected with a prohibited taking or an unlawful importation of any marine

mammal or marine mammal product.” 50 C.F.R. 216.13(a) (emphasis added). 

16. At the time the MMPA was enacted, the term “high seas” was understood to mean all waters

outside of the territorial seas of a nation.  The subsequent adoption of Exclusive Economic Zones (“EEZs”) does

nothing to alter the jurisdictional reach of the MMPA.

17. While the moratorium on the taking of marine mammals is overarching, Congress made a limited
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exception to the take prohibitions under the MMPA, but only if a permit for the take is  first authorized by the

Secretary of Commerce through the issuance of either a “small take” permit or an “incidental harassment”

authorization.  16 U.S.C. § 1371(a); 50 C.F.R. § 216.107.  The MMPA and its accompanying regulations set forth

standards and procedures, including public comment, that must be satisfied before either a small take permit or

incidental harassment authorization may issue.  Id. 

18. Section 101 of the MMPA allows the Secretary of Commerce, through his agencies, including

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Association (“NOAA”) and National Marine Fisheries Service (“NMFS”),

to grant a small incidental take permit for taking or taking by harassment only on the condition that: (i) it is limited

to a “specified geographical region”; (ii) it allows the taking of only “small numbers” of marine mammals; (iii) the

takings it authorizes have no more than a “negligible impact” on species and stocks; (iv) it provides for the

monitoring and reporting of such takings; and (v) it prescribes methods and means of effecting the “least practicable

adverse impact” on species and stock and their habitat.  16 U.S.C. § 1371(a)(5)(A), (D).   

19. NMFS regulations define “negligible impact” as “impact resulting from the specified  activity that

cannot be reasonably expected to, and is not reasonably likely to, adversely affect the species or stock through

effects on annual rates of recruitment or survival.”  50 C.F.R. § 216.103.

20. Proposed take permits and harassment authorizations must be circulated for public  comment.  16

U.S.C. §§ 1371(a)(5)(A), 1371(a)(5)(D)(iii).  Under the MMPA and NMFS’ regulations, the subsequent issuance

of a Letter of Authorization by NMFS is a necessary precondition to taking action under the small take permit.

21. In another protective measure designed to ensure the scientific soundness of decisions under the

MMPA, Congress established the United States Marine Mammal Commission and charged it to make

recommendations on specific matters before the Secretary of Commerce.  The MMPA requires that any deviation

from such recommendations must be explained in detail, a level of deference unprecedented for an advisory panel

at the time that the MMPA was adopted.  16 U.S.C. § 1402(d). 

B. The National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”)

22. The purpose of the National Environmental Project Act (“NEPA”) is to “promote efforts which will

prevent or eliminate damage to the environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4331.  NEPA’s fundamental purposes are to

guarantee that: (1) agencies take a “hard look” at the environmental consequences of their actions before these

actions occur by ensuring that the agency has and carefully considers detailed information concerning significant
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environmental impacts; and (2) agencies make the relevant information available to the public so that it may also

play a role in both the decisionmaking process and the implementation of that decision.  See, e.g. 40 C.F.R. §

1500.1.

23. NEPA and the regulations promulgated thereunder by the Council on Environmental  Quality

(“CEQ”) require that federal agencies, including the NSF, must prepare an environmental impact statement (“EIS”)

for all “major federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C);

see also 40 C.F.R. § 1501.4.  Where a full EIS is not required, the agency must prepare an environmental

assessment (“EA”).  The NSF’s NEPA regulations are found at 45 C.F.R. 640.1 et seq.

24. To assure the transparency and thoroughness of these deliberations, agencies also must  “to the

fullest extent possible . . . [e]ncourage and facilitate public involvement” in decision-making.  40 C.F.R.

§ 1500.2(d).

25. “Major Federal action” includes actions with effects that may be major and are potentially

 subject to federal control and responsibility.  40 C.F.R. § 1508.18.  Actions include the circumstance where the

agency fails to act and that failure to act is reviewable under the Administrative Procedure Act.  Id.  Actions include

new and continuing activities, including projects and programs entirely or partly financed, assisted, conducted,

regulated, or approved by federal agencies.  Id.

26. The NSF NEPA regulations provide that, among others, the following types of activities require

“at least  an environmental assessment:” “Cases where field work affecting the natural environment will be

conducted;” and “Any project that will involve drilling of the earth, excavation, explosives, weather modification,

or other techniques that may alter a local environment.”  45 C.F.R. § 640.3.

27. Prior to making any detailed statement, the responsible agency “shall consult with and  obtain the

comments” of any other federal agency which has jurisdiction by law or special expertise with respect to any

environmental impact involved.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(C).

28. Furthermore, until the agency issues a Record of Decision on the EIS, it may not take any actions

that would have an adverse environmental impact or limit the reasonable choice of alternatives.  40 C.F.R. §

1506.1.

29. An EIS must provide a detailed statement of: (1) the environmental impact of the  proposed action;

(2) any adverse environmental effects that cannot be avoided should the proposed action be implemented; (3)
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alternatives to the proposed actions; (4) the relationship between local short-term uses of man’s environment and

the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity; and (5) any irreversible and irretrievable commitments

of resources that would be involved in the proposed action should it be implemented.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(C).

30. An EIS must “inform decision-makers and the public of the reasonable alternatives which

 would avoid or minimize adverse impacts or enhance the quality of the human environment.”  40 C.F.R. § 1502.1.

 NEPA also requires federal agencies to analyze the direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts of the proposed action.

40 C.F.R. §§ 1508.7, 1508.8.   Cumulative impacts include the “impact on the environment which results from the

incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future significant

actions.”  40 C.F.R. § 1508.7.  Direct effects are caused by the action and occur at the same time and place.  See

id. § 1508.8(a).  Indirect effects are caused by the action and are later in time or farther removed in distance, but

are still reasonably foreseeable.  See id. § 1508.8(b).  Both include “effects on natural resources and on the

components, structures, and functioning of affected ecosystems,” as well as “aesthetic, historic, cultural, economic,

social, or health [effects].”  Id. 

31. In addition to alternatives and impacts, NEPA requires agencies to consider mitigation  measures

to minimize the environmental impacts of the proposed action.  40 C.F.R. § 1502.14 (alternatives and mitigation

measures); 40 C.F.R. § 1502.16 (environmental consequences and mitigation measures).

32. Throughout the EIS, the agency is required to “insure the professional integrity, including scientific

integrity,” of its discussions and analyses.  Id. § 1502.24. 

33. An agency may first prepare a detailed Environmental Assessment (“EA”) to determine  whether

the project may significantly affect the environment and requires a full EIS.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C); 40 C.F.R.

§ 1508.9.  

34. Significance is based upon the “intensity” and “context” of the action.  40 C.F.R. §  1508.27.

“Context” refers to the geographic and temporal scope of the agency action and the interests affected.  Id. §

1508.27(a).  “Intensity” addresses the severity of the impacts.  Id. § 1508.27(b).  Factors relevant to intensity

include: the degree to which the effects on the quality of the human environment are likely to be highly controversial;

the degree to which the action may adversely affect an endangered or threatened species or its critical habitat; the

presence of “uncertain impacts or unknown risks;” whether the action is “related to other actions with individually

insignificant but cumulatively significant effects;” and whether the project “threatens a violation” of other laws.  Id.
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at § 1508.27(b).  

35. If an EIS is not required, the federal agency must provide a “convincing statement of  reasons” why

the project’s impacts are insignificant and issue a Finding of No Significant Impact or “FONSI.”  40 C.F.R. §§

1501.4, 1508.9, 1508.13; 45 C.F.R. § 640.4(e).

36. A NEPA analysis must be performed for every “major federal action” regardless of where the

impacts of that action are felt.

37. A NEPA analysis must be performed for every “major federal action” that occurs in the high seas.

V.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. Environmental Impact of  High Energy Acoustics on Marine Mammals

38. There is no dispute that anthropogenic ocean noise can be harmful to marine mammals.  Because

many marine mammals rely on sound for communication, navigation, or detection of predators and prey, artificial

sounds that interfere with or disrupt these functions can negatively affect marine mammals at the individual and

population levels.

39. Intense noise, such as that generated by the airgun arrays in this case, as well by such sound sources

as certain military sonar, has been demonstrated or is believed to induce a range of adverse effects in marine

mammals.  At their most severe, these sounds can result in hemorrhaging of air cavities or other structures of the

body, causing internal bleeding, loss of hearing, disorientation and death.  Death may be direct or as a consequence

of the stress of beaching induced by the injury.  Less immediate, but no less significant are impacts such as

temporary loss of hearing; abandonment of habitat; disruption of mating, feeding, nursing, and migrating, induction

of stress, which compromises breeding and may leave animals to disease, parasitism, and other environmental

harms; masking of biologically meaningful sounds, such as the call of predators; and declines in the productivity of

prey species, such as fish, whose eggs have been shown to lose viability on exposure to intense sound.  

40. Numerous stranding events in recent years involving whales and dolphins have been linked to high

energy human-made noise.  The pattern that has emerged from these events is that beaked whales, particularly the

Cuvier’s beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris), are especially vulnerable to high energy sounds.

41. The best studied stranding incident occurred in the Bahamas in March, 2000.  On March 15, 2000,

at least sixteen whales from at least four different species stranded  along the coasts of Abaco, Bahama, and North

Eleuthera in the northern Bahaman Islands.  Among the stranded animals were Blainville’s beaked whales
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(Mesoplodon densirostris), Cuvier’s beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris), a Gervais’ beaked whale

(Mesoplodon europaeus), and minke whales (Balaenoptera acutorostrata).

42. The strandings occurred concurrently with U.S. Navy operations in the area that were using high

energy active sonar.  In June 2000, National Marine Fisheries Service scientists presented the preliminary results

from the post mortem examinations, or “necropsies,” performed on five of the beached whales.  The examination

ruled out biotoxins, chronic disease, inflammatory disease, neoplasms, and fishing- or boat-related injuries as

possible causes, but in all five whales found evidence of tissue damage consistent with an intense acoustic or

pressure event on the whale.  All had hemorrhaging in and around the ears, and other tissues related to sound

conduction or production, such as the larynx and auditory fats, had minor to severe damage.  On March 26, 2001,

a task force headed by NMFS and the Navy officially announced that, on the basis of the necropsy data, time-

distance analyses, and other evidence, it was “highly likely” that the strandings were caused by the Navy’s sonar

transmissions.  See also Mark Schrope, Whale Deaths Caused by Navy Sonar, 415 NATURE 106 (January 10,

2002)]

43. According to biologists at the Bahamas Marine Mammal Survey, at least one of the  populations

involved in the strandings—some 18 Cuvier’s beaked whales that had been photo-identified as resident in the

area—has not been observed in the vicinity since the strandings.  These data suggest that the Cuvier’s beaked

whales were either all killed by the Navy’s sonar transmissions or permanently abandoned their habitat.  This is the

same species of whale that was found dead in the vicinity of the airgun research by the R/V Maurice Ewing.

44. In April 2000, following the Bahamas incident, a historical record of beaked whale  strandings was

compiled by researchers at the Smithsonian Institution.  The record demonstrates a strong statistical correlation over

decades between naval activities in general (which would include the use of active sonar) and mass mortalities of

beaked whales.  The International Whaling Commission’s Standing Working Group on Environmental Concerns,

in reporting these data, observed that every mass stranding on record that has involved multiple species of beaked

whales occurred with Naval activities in the vicinity.

45. According to an analysis published in the 1991 volume of Nature, a number of mass  strandings

that occurred off the Canary Islands in 1989 were correlated with Naval exercises in that area.  Similarly, a mass

stranding of Cuvier’s beaked whales that occurred along the west coast  of Greece in 1996 was separately

correlated, in an analysis appearing in the 1998 volume of Nature, with the movements of an active sonar system
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operated by NATO.  A subsequent NATO investigation, also conducted in 1998, found the strandings to be

closely timed with the movements of a vessel employing intense active sonar, and ruled out all other physical

environmental factors as a cause. 

46. Because the U.S. Navy is currently developing and deploying new active sonar technologies that

use high energy sounds, the potential impacts of high energy sounds on marine mammals has been the focus of

recent research.  In 1997 and 1998, the Navy sponsored research into some of the potential behavioral impacts

of its “SURTASS Low Frequency Active (LFA)” sonar system on marine mammals.  The research was limited in

the species it considered, the exposure levels it tested, the numbers of animals it observed, and the responses it

focused on; nonetheless, it demonstrated the ability of a low-frequency active sonar system to disrupt the

communication, navigation, and breeding behavior of whales at even moderate intensities.  For example, at pressure

levels of 130 and 140 decibels, levels of sound that animals could experience many miles from the R/V Maurice

Ewing’s airguns, roughly one-quarter of male humpback whales tracked by researchers stopped their singing (an

activity related to mating behavior) and remained silent for the duration of the sonar signal.  The same report

concluded that, according to the Navy’s own models, half the marine  mammals exposed to signals of 165 decibels

would undergo a “significant disruption” in a “biologically important activity.”   

47. The sound generated by the R/V Maurice Ewing in its current research is more intense, and

therefore poses a greater immediate risk to marine mammals, than the sounds generated by the Navy’s various

active sonar technologies.

B. The NSF’s Current Acoustic Activities in the Gulf of California

48. As part of the NSF’s MARGINS program, a program focused on the geologic structure and

processes of continental margins, the NSF funded a research voyage aboard the  NSF-owned research vessel the

R/V Maurice Ewing designed to designed to gather information about the rifting of the continental lithosphere

where the Pacific and North American plates meet in the Gulf of California.

49. The R/V Maurice Ewing left San Diego on September 16, 2002 to conduct research until

approximately Novermber 4, 2002 in the Gulf of California.  The vessel is currently operating both within and

outside of Mexico’s territorial seas.

50. To gather the desired geophysical data, the R/V Maurice Ewing uses what are called seismic

“airguns” to produce “explosions” of air at regular intervals.  These airguns produce sound waves that travel to, and
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if of high enough energy, through the sea.  By measuring the sound waves as they bounce back from the seabed,

scientists can gain information about the structure of the sea floor and the underlying rock and sediments. 

51.  A 20 airgun array of the R/V Maurice Ewing produces sounds over 220 decibels at the source.

The specific ongoing research project uses a 40 airgun array that produces sounds up to 263 decibels.  The decibel

scale is logarithmic; in other words, each increase of 10 decibels translates into a ten-fold increase in sound energy.

So a 240 decibel source produces sound 10 times more intense than a 230 decibel source.  A 250 decibel source

produces sound 100 times more intense than a 230 decibel source.  

52. The U.S. Navy considers sounds above 180 decibels to be potentially harmful to marine mammals.

The 220 decibel sound source of the R/V Maurice Ewing’s 20 airgun array produces sounds 10,000 more intense

than the Navy’s threshold for injury to marine mammals.  If the full 40 gun array is used, the sound produced is

100,000,000 times more intense than the 180 decibel threshold.  These extremely high sound levels are calculated

at the source; marine mammals at greater distances from the source will experience the sound at increasingly lower

levels.  However, depending on ocean conditions (temperature, depth, etc) the received levels of sound may be

above the injury threshold for marine mammals many kilometers away from the source.  Moreover, while the U.S.

Navy considers 180 decibels to be the threshold for marine mammals, the received sound levels for many of the

whales stranded in the Bahamas was likely to be only on the order of 160 decibels.

53. But for an unlikely coincidence, the true impacts of the NSF’s airgun use in the Gulf of California

might never be discovered.  On September 25, 2002, a group of marine scientist, including senior NMFS marine

mammal specialists, were on a sailboat vacation in the Gulf of California.  The scientists discovered two stranded

and dead Cuvier’s beaked whales at Isla San Jose in the Gulf of California.  Later that same day, the scientists

heard the R/V Maurice Ewing on their radio and called  the vessel for assistance in contacting a Mexican scientist

to respond to the stranding.  They learned that the R/V Maurice Ewing was carrying out seismic research in the

area.  

54. On September 26, 2002, the scientists returned to the beach and found one whale gone  (female)

and the other whale (male) still present on the beach, though decomposing rapidly.  The R/V Maurice Ewing was

sighted operating to the southeast of the island.  On September 27, 2002, a Mexican scientist, Jorge Urban, visited

the beach to analyze the remaining whale.  He learned from local fishermen that the whales live-stranded on

September 24, 2002 while the R/V Maurice Ewing was operating in the area.  On October 1, 2002, Jorge Urban
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conducted an aerial survey of the beaches and  shorelines, finding only the male.  The female was not seen again.

55. On or about September 30, 2002 the R/V Maurice Ewing temporarily suspended its airgun

operations.  On or about October 7, 2002, the vessel resumed its airgun operations and plans to continue the

research until approximately November 4, 2002.

56. On October 8, 2002 at the annual meeting of the Marine Mammal Commission in San  Diego,

testimony was presented on the stranding incident.  NMFS scientists testified that they believed that the stranding

was related to the actions of the R/V Maurice Ewing.  A NMFS scientist also testified that given the behavior of

and difficulty of surveying for beaked whales, none of the mitigations adopted by the R/V Maurice Ewing in the

wake of the stranding were likely to provide actual benefit to the whales.  No visual survey method reliably exists

to detect more than a small percentage of beaked  whales.  The only effective mitigation would likely be to carry

out the research in areas where or in seasons when beaked whales would not likely be present.  The Gulf of

California, however, contains one of the highest known concentrations of beaked whales in the world.  Given the

extremely low probability that the scientists who found the stranded whales would randomly come across the only

stranded whales in the Gulf, it is quite plausible to infer that the two whales discovered on September 25, 2002

were just a small subset of the actual number of whales impacted by the R/V Maurice Ewing sound source.

57. Also at the meeting of the Marine Mammal Commission, scientists gave a presentation on the

emerging consensus that there is an indisputable association between strandings of beaked whales and the use of

high intensity acoustics.  In fact, a mass stranding of beaked whales took place off of Fuerteventura and Lanzarote

in the Canary Islands on the very same day as the stranding in the Gulf of California.  The Canary Island stranding

was correlated with naval operations using high intensity sonar.  While the research conducted by the R/V Maurice

Ewing is not apparently military related and is not using the same low and mid-frequency sonar as linked to some

of the previously discussed stranding incidents, it is using sound sources of equivalent or greater intensity than those

linked to whale deaths in those incidents.

58. In addition to the Cuvier’s beaked whale, numerous other marine mammal species inhabit the Gulf

of California.  Several of these, such as the blue whale, sei whale, and fin whale, are listed as endangered under the

Endangered Species Act.  Also inhabiting the Gulf and threatened by the NSF’s research, is the vaquita, a critically

endangered harbor porpoise that lives nowhere else in world.  It is widely considered to be among the most

endangered marine mammals in the world.
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59. The NSF’s decision to authorize, fund, and conduct geophysical research in the Gulf of  California

is a major federal action that clearly may significantly affect the quality of the human environment.  Both the specific

decision to fund the current research project as well as the ongoing operations of the R/V Maurice Ewing trigger

NEPA’s requirements.  The NSF has violated NEPA and its implementing regulations by authorizing, funding, and

conducting acoustic research on the R/V Maurice Ewing in the Gulf of California without preparing either an

Environmental Assessment or an Environmental Impact Statement.

60. The NSF’s research in the Gulf of California is also violating the MMPA.  The research has caused

and is likely to cause unlawful take in violation of the statute.  The NSF has not sought nor received the necessary

take permits or harassment authorizations required by the MMPA.  

V.  CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Failure to Prepare an Environmental Impact Statement or Environmental Assessment in Violation of

NEPA and its Implementing Regulations)

61. Each and every allegation set forth in this Complaint is incorporated herein by reference.

62. The NSF’s decision to authorize, fund, and conduct this geophysical research project in the Gulf

of California is a major federal action significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.  Similarly, the

NSF’s decision to authorize, fund, operate, or allow to be operated, the R/V Maurice Ewing is a major federal

action significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.  

63. The NSF’s failure to prepare an EA or an EIS for the project is a violation of NEPA, 42 U.S.C.

§ 4321 et seq.

64. The NSF’s failure to prepare an EA or an EIS for the project as required by NEPA  is arbitrary,

capricious, and not in accordance with law as required by the APA, and is subject to judicial review thereunder.

5 U.S.C. §§ 701 through 706.

65. The NSF’s failure to prepare an EA or an EIS for the project as required by NEPA constitutes

agency action that is unreasonably delayed and/or unlawfully withheld as provided by § 706(1) of the APA, and

is subject to judicial review thereunder.  5 U.S.C. §§ 701 through 706.
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Take of Marine Mammals Take Permit or Harassment Authorization in Violation of the MMPA and

its Implementing Regulations)

66. Each and every allegation set forth in this Complaint is incorporated herein by reference.

67. The acoustic tests conducted by the R/V Maurice Ewing airgun arrays have resulted, will

 result, or have the potential to result in the unlawful take of an unknown number of marine mammals in violation

of the MMPA, 16 U.S.C. § § 1361 et seq. 

68. The NSF has never applied for a small incidental take permit or incidental harassment authorizations

for the R/V Maurice Ewing activities in the Gulf of California as required by the MMPA.

69. The NSF’s unauthorized take of protected marine mammal species and its failure to apply for a

small take permit or incidental harassment authorization constitutes a continuing violation of law that adversely

affects and aggrieves the Center and is arbitrary, capricious, and not in accordance with law as required by the

APA, and is subject to judicial review thereunder.  5 U.S.C. §§ 701 through 706.

70. The NSF’s unauthorized take of protected marine mammal species and its failure to apply to for

a small take permit or incidental harassment authorization constitutes agency action that is unreasonably delayed

and/or unlawfully withheld as provided by § 706(1) of the APA, and is subject to judicial review thereunder.  5

U.S.C. §§ 701 through 706.

   VI.  PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Center respectfully requests that the Court:

(1) Adjudge and declare that the NSF is in violation of the MMPA for engaging in unlawful take of

marine mammals without obtaining the necessary permits or authorizations;

(2) Adjudge and declare that the NSF  is in violation of NEPA for failing to prepare an Environmental

Assessment of Environmental Impact Statement;

(3) Adjudge and declare that NSF’s  violations of NEPA and the MMPA are arbitrary, capricious,

and not in accordance with law and constitute unreasonably delayed and/or unlawfully withheld agency action

pursuant to Section 706(1)& (2) of the APA. 

(4) Order the NSF to immediately cease all acoustic research activities aboard the R/V Maurice

Ewing until it completes a full environmental review process under NEPA;
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(5) Order NSF to cease all acoustic research activities aboard the R/V Maurice Ewing until it obtains

the necessary permits or authorizations under the MMPA;

(6) Award the Center their fees, costs, expenses, and disbursements, including reasonable attorneys’

fees, associated with this litigation; and

(7) Grant such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper.

   VII.  CERTIFICATION OF INTERESTED ENTITIES OR PERSONS

Pursuant to Civil L.R. 3-16, the undersigned certifies that as of this date, other than the named

parties, there is no such interest to report. 

DATED: October 18, 2002

Respectfully submitted,

______________________________
BRENDAN R. CUMMINGS (CA Bar # 193952)
JULIE TEEL (CA Bar # 208282)
Center For Biological Diversity
P.O. Box 493
54870 Pine Crest Ave.
Idyllwild, California  92549
Telephone: (909) 659-6053
Facsimile: (909) 659-2484

BRENT R. PLATER (CA Bar #209555)
Center for Biological Diversity
2325 Carleton St, Suite A
Berkeley, CA 94704
Phone: (510) 841-0812
Fax: (510) 841-0187

Attorneys for Plaintiff


